
 

 

 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

216 Walnut Street 

Agenda - Monday, January 06, 2025 - 6:00 PM 

 

 

Call to Order 

Invocation given by Mayor Allen Brown 

Pledge of Allegiance led by Airport Executive Director Paul Mehrlich 

OATHS OF OFFICE I 

Board of Directors:  Ward 1 Director Terry Roberts, Ward 2 Director Laney Harris, 

and Ward 6 Director Steve Smith. 

ROLL CALL 

ASSISTANT MAYOR 

1. Adopt a Resolution appointing Director Laney Harris Assistant Mayor for the term of 1 year. 

(BOD) 

OATH OF OFFICE II 

Assistant Mayor Laney Harris. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION I 

2. Adopt a Resolution making appointments to the Board of Directors’ boards, commissions and 

committees. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

CITIZEN COMMUNICATION 

A limit of five (5) minutes per person is allotted for citizens to express their concerns to the 

Board of Directors, with a maximum of fifty (50) minutes reserved for Citizens 

Communication.   

Please fill out a Citizen Communication Card with your name and contact information for the 

City Clerk's records. 

PRESENTATION(S) 

3. Presentation of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas Employee Service Awards. (ADMIN)  



 

CONSENT 

4. Approval of the minutes of the regular meeting December 16, 2024, and the special called 

meeting December 23, 2024. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

5. Adopt a Resolution directing the Texarkana Airport Executive Director and City Manager to 

sign the first amendment to the Energy Savings Performance Contract changing the initial 

measurement and verification period from 24 months to 36 months as required by the 

Arkansas Energy Performance Contract Program. (AIRPORT) Executive Director Paul 

Mehrlich 

6. Adopt a Resolution approving the Texarkana Airport Executive Director entering into an 

agreement with McClelland Engineering for runway strengthening. (AIRPORT) Executive 

Director Paul Mehrlich 

7. Adopt a Resolution appointing Eric Ethridge, Marian Holder, and Linda Matthews to the 

Personnel Policy Committee for the term of January 6, 2025---2027. (CCD) City Clerk 

Heather Soyars 

8. Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Depository Board to execute the 2025 depository 

agreement with Commercial National Bank (FIN) City Manager Tyler Richards 

9. Adopt a Resolution approving the Rules of Order and Procedure per ACA 14-43-501, every 

first meeting in January. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars  

REGULAR 

10. Adopt an Ordinance to rezone parcels 00193600 and 00193601, Texarkana, Arkansas, from 

C-4 Crossroads Business Park to a Planned Unit Development (PUD) for the purpose of 

constructing seven (7) single family homes. (Ward 6) *Item was tabled November 4, 2024. * 

(PWD-Planning) City Planner Jamie Finley  

The applicant requests an emergency clause. An emergency clause requires a separate and 

distinct vote of the board and is valid only if there is a two-thirds vote of approval by the 

board. (Hdbk. Const. Amend 7) 

EXECUTIVE SESSION II 

11. Adopt a Resolution making appointments to the Historic District Commission for the term of 

January 17, 2025----2028. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

12. Adopt a Resolution appointing Linda Register to the Library Board for the term of January 

15, 2025----2031. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' COMMENTARY 

CITY MANAGER REPORT 

NEXT MEETING DATE: Tuesday, January 21, 2025 

ADJOURN 

 



 

2025 City Calendar 

City Holiday Martin Luther King, Jr. Day - Monday- January 20th 

 

Texarkana Rec Center Calendar 

Live to the Beat - 9AM-10AM - Monday through Friday 

Ageless Grace - Mondays & Thursdays – 2PM - 3PM 

The Fabric Shop - Thursdays - 8AM - 2PM 

Quilters - Fridays - 9AM - 3PM 

Gym Open - Daily - 3PM - 5PM 

Dance Fitness - Tuesdays - 6PM & Saturdays - 11AM 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution appointing Director Laney Harris Assistant Mayor 

for the term of 1 year. (BOD) 

AGENDA DATE: January 6, 2025 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Board of Directors 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars 

REQUEST: Appointment of Assistant Mayor 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Appointment of Assistant Mayor per Ordinance No. 2-2023.  

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

Approve appointment of Assistant Mayor 

EXHIBITS: Resolution and Ordinance No. 2-2023 

 



RESOLUTION NO.   _________ 

WHEREAS, per Ordinance No. 2-2023, the successor to the position of Assistant 

Mayor is Ward 2 Director; and 

 WHEREAS, Director Laney Harris’ appointment as Assistant Mayor will have a 

term of one (1) year;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that Director Laney Harris’ appointment as Assistant Mayor is 

hereby approved. 

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 6th day of January, 2025.   

 

       ______________________________ 

        Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 
 

 

_________________________________ 
Heather Soyars, City Clerk  
 

 

 

APPROVED: 
 

 

________________________________ 
Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 

 







 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution making appointments to the Board of Directors’ 

boards, commissions and committees. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

AGENDA DATE: January 6, 2025 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: City Clerk 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars 

REQUEST: Make Board appointments 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Appointments to the Board of Directors’ boards, commissions and 

committees. 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

The City Manager and staff recommend approval. 

EXHIBITS: Resolution, current list and blank form 

 

Summary of Directors’ Boards, Committees, and Commissions 

Advertising and Promotion Commission – promotes tourism and hospitality industry and authorizes use 

of revenues derived from the tax for the purpose of advertising and promoting the city and its environs. 

 

Council of Governments – promotes intergovernmental cooperation and strengthening local units of 

government. 

 

Economic Development Board – promotes and pursues economic development in the city.  Mayor acts as 

Chairman. 

 

Emergency Medical Services (EMS) Board – advises regarding emergency medical services. 



 

Employees Retirement System Committee – advisory committee relating to the retirement plan of the city 

and review the actuarial study for the benefit of the employees. 

 

Intergovernmental Advisory Committee (IAC) – advisory committee relating to the Bi-State Justice 

Building. 

 

Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) Policy Committee – adopts policies relating to the 

metropolitan transportation planning process, reviews and adopts a long-range transportation plan and 

promote its implementation. 

 

Public Utilities Committee – advisory committee relating to the administration and operation of Texarkana 

Water Utilities Department. 

 

Solid Waste Committee – advisory committee relating to solid waste contracts. 

 

Texarkana Urban Transit District (TUTD) Board – T-Line Bus System. 

 

 



RESOLUTION NO.   _________ 

WHEREAS, vacancies exist on the Board Committees listed below; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors wishes to make appointments to fill the vacant 

positions; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the City of 

Texarkana, Arkansas, that the following individuals are hereby appointed to the Board Committees 

listed below: 

  

A&P Commission (2) 

 

 Intergovernmental Advisory  

Committee (2) 

1.     1.    

2.     2.    

   

Council of Governments Board (1)  Metropolitan Planning Organization 

Policy Committee (2) 

1.     1.    

  2.    

   

Economic Development Committee (5)  Public Utilities Committee (3) 

1.     1.    

2.     2.     

3.     3.    

4.      

5.      

   

Emergency Medical Systems  

Committee (3) 

 Solid Waste Management Committee (3) 

1.     1.    

2.     2.    

3.     3.    

   

Employees Retirement System 

Committee (2) 

 Texarkana Urban Transit District  

Board (3) 

1.     1.    

2.     2.    

  3.    



PASSED AND APPROVED this 6th day of January, 2025. 

  

  
_____________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

  

________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED: 

  

________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 



 

 

Board of Directors 

Boards & Committees 

 

 

A&P Commission (2) 
 

1.   Director Ulysses Brewer 

2.   Director Steven Hollibush 

Intergovernmental Advisor 

Committee (2) 

1.   Mayor Allen Brown 

2.   Director Ulysses Brewer 

 

Council of Governments Board (1) 

 

1.   Director Jeff Hart 

Metropolitan Planning Organization 

Policy Committee (2) 

1.   Director Steven Hollibush 

2.   Director Laney Harris  

 

Economic Development Committee 

(5) 
1.   Mayor Allen Brown 

2.   Director Steven Hollibush 

3.   Director Ulysses Brewer 

4.   Director Danny Jewell 

5.   Assistant Mayor Terry Roberts 

 

Public Utilities Committee (3) 

 
1.   Director Ulysses Brewer 

2.   Director Danny Jewell 

3.   Assistant Mayor Terry Roberts 

Emergency Medical Systems 

Committee (3) 

1.   Director Ulysses Brewer 

2.   Director Danny Jewell 

3.   Director Steven Hollibush 

Solid Waste Management Committee 

(3) 
1.   Mayor Allen Brown 

2.   Director Jeff Hart 

3.   Assistant Mayor Terry Roberts 

 

Employees Retirement System 

Committee (2) 

1.   Mayor Allen Brown 

2.   Director Laney Harris 

Texarkana Urban Transit District 

Board (3) 
1.   Director Steven Hollibush 

2.   Director Laney Harris 

3.   Director Jeff Hart 
 



 

 

Board of Directors 

Boards & Committees 

 

 

A&P Commission (2) 
 

1.    

2. 

 

Intergovernmental Advisor 

Committee (2) 

1.    

2.    

 

Council of Governments Board (1) 

 

1.    

Metropolitan Planning Organization 

Policy Committee (2) 

1.    

2.    

 

Economic Development Committee 

(5) 
1.    

2.    

3.    

4.    

5.    

 

Public Utilities Committee (3) 

 
1.    

2.    

3.    

Emergency Medical Systems 

Committee (3) 

1.    

2.    

3.    

Solid Waste Management Committee 

(3) 
1.    

2.    

3.    

 

Employees Retirement System 

Committee (2) 

1.    

2.    

Texarkana Urban Transit District 

Board (3) 
1.    

2.    

3.    
 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Presentation of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas Employee Service 

Awards. (ADMIN)  

AGENDA DATE: January 6, 2025 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☐  Other☒: Presentation 

DEPARTMENT: City Clerk Department 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

REQUEST: Presentation of employee service awards. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: 

 

 

 

 

Employee Service Awards: 

 

 

William Woolery  TAPD 10 Years 

Dakota Easley TAPD 10 Years 

Pe’tree Banks Court Docket Coordinator 25 Years 

Stewart Allgor TWU 5 Years 

William Moss Jr TWU 10 Years 

Ryan Bean TWU 10 Years 

   
 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

N/A 

EXHIBITS: None 

 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Approval of the minutes of the regular meeting December 16, 2024, and 

the special called meeting December 23, 2024. (CCD) City Clerk 

Heather Soyars 

AGENDA DATE: January 6, 2025 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☐  Other☒: Minutes 

DEPARTMENT: City Clerk Department 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

REQUEST: Approval of meeting minutes. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Approval of meeting minutes 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

The City Clerk recommends Board approval. 

EXHIBITS: Meeting minutes. 

 



 

 

 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

216 Walnut Street 

Minutes - Monday, December 16, 2024 - 6:00 PM 

 

 

Mayor Allen Brown called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM. 

PRESENT: Mayor Allen Brown, Ward 1 Director Terry Roberts, Ward 2 Director Laney Harris, 

Ward 3 Director Steven Hollibush, Ward 4 Director Ulysses Brewer, Ward 5 Director Danny 

Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Ward 6 Director Jeff Hart.  

ALSO, PRESENT: City Manager Tyler Richards, City Attorney Josh Potter, City Clerk Heather 

Soyars, and Deputy City Clerk Jenny Narens.  

Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance led by Ward 3 Director Steven Hollibush. 

CITIZEN COMMUNICATION 

Shane Richardson, 416 East 3rd Street, spoke regarding his support for the firefighter’s parity pay.  

Rick Pavick, 11 Colonial Drive, spoke regarding his support for the firefighter’s parity pay.  

Johnny Riley, 4425 Jefferson Avenue, wanted to thank the City for the support with Bridging the 

GAPS of Arkansas.  

Floyd Fenix, 4421 East 9th Street, asked if certain traffic signals could be removed.  

Daniel Thiels, 2301 Ramblewood Road, spoke regarding his support for the firefighter’s parity 

pay.  

Nichole Kegley, 91 South Valley Drive, asked if anyone found the ordinance as to why the 

taxpayers give 40% of our personal property taxes to Miller County.  

Director Laney Harris wanted to let citizens know there would be a fishing derby this Saturday, at 

Lake Diffenbacker in honor of the late Aaron LaVan Bruce.    

Director Steven Hollibush wanted to recognize the Boy Scouts in attendance from Troop 86.   

PRESENTATION(S) 

1. Fire Chief David Fletcher gave a presentation. (TAFD) 

Fire Chief David Fletcher and Fire Captain Jason Carroll gave a presentation regarding parity pay 

for the firefighters. (see attached) 



 

City Manager Tyler Richards presented Assistant Mayor Jeff Hart a plaque for his service on the 

Board.  

CONSENT 

Assistant Mayor Hart made the motion to adopt the Consent agenda, Seconded by Director Brewer.  

The motion carried and the following item was approved:  

2. Approval of the minutes of the rescheduled regular meeting December 3, 2024. (CCD) City 

Clerk Heather Soyars 

REGULAR 

3. Ordinance No. 31-2024 levied the 2024 tax rate. (FIN) City Manager Tyler Richards 

After a brief discussion, the ordinance was read for the first time.   

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its second reading in abbreviated form 

made by Director Brewer, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Hart. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the ordinance was read the second time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its third and final reading in abbreviated 

form made by Assistant Mayor Hart, Seconded by Director Brewer. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the ordinance was read the third time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to adopt the ordinance made by Assistant Mayor Hart, Seconded by Director Roberts. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this ordinance. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 

 

4. Consider the following: 

Conduct a Public Hearing regarding the issuance of Waterworks and Sewer Facilities Revenue 

Bonds, Series 2025. 

Mayor Brown opened the Public Hearing. 

A brief presentation was given by Executive Director Gary Smith and Jim Fowler of Counsel for 

Rose Law Firm. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this item. 

No one came forward. 



 

Mayor Brown closed the Public Hearing.  

Ordinance No. 32-2024 authorized the City of Texarkana, Arkansas Public Facilities Board 

to proceed with the issuance of Waterworks and Sewer Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 2025. 

(TWU) Executive Director Gary Smith and Jim Fowler of Counsel for Rose Law Firm 

The ordinance was read for the first time.   

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its second reading in abbreviated form 

made by Director Hollibush, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Hart. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the ordinance was read the second time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its third and final reading in abbreviated 

form made by Assistant Mayor Hart, Seconded by Director Brewer. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the ordinance was read the third time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to adopt the ordinance made by Assistant Mayor Hart, Seconded by Director Roberts. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this ordinance. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 

The applicant requests an emergency clause. An emergency clause requires a separate and 

distinct vote of the board and is valid only if there is a two-thirds vote of approval by the 

board. (Hdbk. Const. Amend 7) 

Motion to enact the emergency clause made by Assistant Mayor Hart, Seconded by Director 

Roberts. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against the emergency clause. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.    

The motion carried 7-0 and the Mayor declared the emergency clause was enacted. 

 

5. Ordinance No. 33-2024 amended Ordinance No. K-703 of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, 

Code of Ordinances, to revise the definition of a loft apartment to delete “in the C-2 central 

business district” and add “as referenced in Sec. 28-22. - Commercial district”. (PWD-

Planning) City Planner Jamie Finley 

After a brief discussion, the ordinance was read for the first time.   



 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its second reading in abbreviated form 

made by Director Brewer, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Hart. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the ordinance was read the second time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its third and final reading in abbreviated 

form made by Director Hollibush, Seconded by Director Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the ordinance was read the third time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to adopt the ordinance made by Assistant Mayor Hart, Seconded by Director Roberts. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this ordinance. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 

 

6. Ordinance No. 34-2024 created a Special Use Permit to allow for specific land uses related to 

family care facilities, group care facilities, and group homes in residential districts. (PWD-

Planning) City Planner Jamie Finley 

After a brief discussion, Assistant Mayor Hart made a motion to table the ordinance, Seconded by 

Director Hollibush.  

Voting Yay: Assistant Mayor Hart and Director Jewell. 

Voting Nay: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, and Director 

Brewer.  

The motion failed 2-5 and the Mayor declared the ordinance not tabled. 

After another discussion, the ordinance was read for the first time.   

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its second reading in abbreviated form 

made by Director Hollibush, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Hart. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

Voting Nay: Director Jewell.    

The motion carried 6-1 and the ordinance was read the second time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its third and final reading in abbreviated 

form made by Director Hollibush, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Hart. 



 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

Voting Nay: Director Jewell.  

The motion carried 6-1 and the ordinance was read the third time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to adopt the ordinance made by Assistant Mayor Hart, Seconded by Director Brewer. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this ordinance. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

Voting Nay: Director Jewell. 

The motion carried 6-1 and the Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 

The applicant requests an emergency clause. An emergency clause requires a separate and 

distinct vote of the board and is valid only if there is a two-thirds vote of approval by the 

board. (Hdbk. Const. Amend 7) 

Motion to enact the emergency clause made by Assistant Mayor Hart, Seconded by Director 

Brewer. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against the emergency clause. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Assistant Mayor Hart.   

Voting Nay: Director Jewell.   

The motion carried 6-1 and the Mayor declared the emergency clause was enacted. 

 

7. Ordinance No. 35-2024 abolished Ordinance No. 14-2017, for the reemployment of 

Texarkana, Arkansas Employment Retirement System (TAPERS) recipients. (ADMIN) City 

Manager Tyler Richards   

After a brief discussion, the ordinance was read for the first time.   

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its second reading in abbreviated form 

made by Director Brewer, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Hart. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the ordinance was read the second time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its third and final reading in abbreviated 

form made by Director Hollibush, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Hart. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  



 

The motion carried 7-0 and the ordinance was read the third time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to adopt the ordinance made by Director Hollibush, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Hart. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this ordinance. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 

The applicant requests an emergency clause. An emergency clause requires a separate and 

distinct vote of the board and is valid only if there is a two-thirds vote of approval by the 

board. (Hdbk. Const. Amend 7) 

Motion to enact the emergency clause made by Assistant Mayor Hart, Seconded by Director 

Brewer. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against the emergency clause. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.    

The motion carried 7-0 and the Mayor declared the emergency clause was enacted. 

 

8. Ordinance No. 36-2024 amended the Texarkana, Arkansas Water Utilities Employee 

Retirement System (TWUPERS). City Manager Tyler Richards 

*Director Roberts left the Board Room at 7:55 PM.* 

After a brief discussion, the ordinance was read for the first time.   

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its second reading in abbreviated form 

made by Director Brewer, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Hart. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director Brewer, Director Jewell, 

and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the second time in abbreviated form. 

*Director Roberts returned to the Board Room at 7:57 PM.* 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its third and final reading in abbreviated 

form made by Director Hollibush, Seconded by Director Brewer. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the ordinance was read the third time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to adopt the ordinance made by Director Hollibush, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Hart. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this ordinance. 

No one came forward. 



 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 

The applicant requests an emergency clause. An emergency clause requires a separate and 

distinct vote of the board and is valid only if there is a two-thirds vote of approval by the 

board. (Hdbk. Const. Amend 7) 

Motion to enact the emergency clause made by Assistant Mayor Hart, Seconded by Director 

Roberts. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against the emergency clause. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.    

The motion carried 7-0 and the Mayor declared the emergency clause was enacted. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' COMMENTARY 

Assistant Mayor Hart said he attended the 1st graduation of the Young Marines and said this was 

a great organization.  He also said this weekend would be Ruth Balckwell’s 100th birthday, and he 

wanted to know her secret for a long life.  Assistant Mayor Hart said it was an honor to serve on 

the Board of Directors.  

Director Brewer said his 2nd Ward 4 meeting was a great success and he wanted to thank everyone 

who came.  He also said he hoped the next meeting would be in March.  

NEXT MEETING DATE: Monday, January 6, 2025  

ADJOURN 

Motion to adjourn made by Assistant Mayor Hart, Seconded by Director Brewer.  

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, Director Jewell, and Assistant Mayor Hart.  

The motion carried 7-0 and the meeting adjourned at 8:02 PM. 

APPROVED this the 6th day of January 2025. 

 

 

____________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

____________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk 







































































 

 

 

Special Called Meeting of the  

Board of Directors 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

216 Walnut Street 

Minutes - Monday, December 23, 2024 - 5:00 PM 

 

 

Mayor Allen Brown called the meeting to order at 5:01 PM. 

PRESENT: Mayor Allen Brown, Ward 1 Director Terry Roberts, Ward 2 Director Laney Harris, 

Ward 3 Director Steven Hollibush, Ward 4 Director Ulysses Brewer, and Ward 5 Director Danny 

Jewell.   

ALSO, PRESENT: City Manager Tyler Richards, City Attorney Josh Potter, and Deputy City 

Clerk Jenny Narens.  

ABSENT: Assistant Mayor Ward 6 Director Jeff Hart and City Clerk Heather Soyars. 

Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance given by Mayor Allen Brown. 

REGULAR 

1. Ordinance No. 37-2024 abolished Ordinance No. 6-2022, for the Financial Policy of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas. (ADMIN) City Manager Tyler Richards 

After a brief discussion, the ordinance was read for the first time.   

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its second reading in abbreviated form 

made by Director Brewer, Seconded by Director Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Jewell.   

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the second time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its third and final reading in abbreviated 

form made by Director Roberts, Seconded by Director Brewer. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Jewell.   

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the third time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to adopt the ordinance made by Director Roberts, Seconded by Director Brewer. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this ordinance. 

No one came forward. 



 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Jewell.   

The motion carried 7-0 and the Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 

The applicant requests an emergency clause. An emergency clause requires a separate and 

distinct vote of the board and is valid only if there is a two-thirds vote of approval by the 

board. (Hdbk. Const. Amend 7) 

Motion to enact the emergency clause made by Director Roberts, Seconded by Director Brewer. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against the emergency clause. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Jewell.     

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the emergency clause was enacted. 

 

2. Resolution No. 2024-103 approved the FY2025 Budget. (ADMIN) City Manager Tyler 

Richards 

*Director Roberts left the Board Room at 5:30 PM.* 

*Director Roberts came back into the Board Room at 5:33 PM.* 

After a brief discussion, the motion to adopt the resolution made by Director Roberts, Seconded 

by Director Brewer.  

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Jewell.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the resolution adopted. 

NEXT MEETING DATE: Monday, January 6, 2025 

ADJOURN 

Motion to adjourn made by Director Brewer, Seconded by Director Hollibush.  

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Brewer, and Director Jewell.   

The motion carried 6-0 and the meeting adjourned at 5:47 PM. 

APPROVED this the 6th day of January 2025. 

 

____________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

____________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution directing the Texarkana Airport Executive Director 

and City Manager to sign the first amendment to the Energy Savings 

Performance Contract changing the initial measurement and verification 

period from 24 months to 36 months as required by the Arkansas Energy 

Performance Contract Program. (AIRPORT) Executive Director Paul 

Mehrlich 

 AGENDA DATE: January 6, 2025 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Airport 

PREPARED BY: Paul Mehrlich, Airport Executive Director  

REQUEST: Approving the Texarkana Airport Executive Director and City Manager 

to sign the first amendment to the Energy Savings Performance Contract 

changing the initial measurement and verification period from 24 

months to 36 months as required by the Arkansas Energy Performance 

Contract Program. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Airport ESPC First Amendment 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $0 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: $0 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$0 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

Approve 

EXHIBITS: Resolution, ESPC First Amendment 

 



RESOLUTION NO.   _________ 

WHEREAS, the Texarkana Regional Airport is asking for authorization for the 

City Manager and the Texarkana Airport Executive Director to sign the first amendment to 

the Energy Savings Performance Contract (the “Contract”); and 

WHEREAS, the Contract currently only has an initial measurement and 

verification plan period of twenty-four (24) months; and 

 WHEREAS, in order to be eligible for funding under the Arkansas Energy 

Performance Contracting Program-Revolving Loan Lease Fund, it is necessary that the 

Contract be amended to include an initial measurement and verification plan period of 

thirty-six (36) months;   

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the Texarkana Regional Airport Executive Director and the 

City Manager are authorized to enter into the first amendment to the Energy Savings 

Performance Contract that increases the initial measurement and verification plan period 

to thirty-six (36) months. 

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 6th day of January, 2025.   

 

 

       ______________________________ 

        Allen L. Brown, Mayor          

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 



 

1403 East 6th Street 
Little Rock, AR 72202 

www.entegritypartners.com 
 

Performance 
Contract Agreement  
 
First Amendment   
 

 

  

Texarkana 
Regional Airport 
Solar Covered 
Parking 
 

December 2024 



FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE  
ENERGY SAVINGS PERFORMANCE CONTRACT 

PARTIES: 

Entegrity Energy Partners, LLC             Texarkana Regional Airport Authority 
1403 East 6th Street 201 Airport Drive 
Little Rock, Arkansas 72202 Texarkana, Arkansas 71854 
  
 City of Texarkana Arkansas 
 216 Walnut Street 
 Texarkana, Arkansas 71854 

 

An Energy Savings Performance Contract (the “Contract”) was made and entered into as of 
November 30, 2023, and made effective as of December 08, 2023, by and between Entegrity 
Energy Partners, LLC and Texarkana Regional Airport Authority.  

Subsequently, an Assignment and Assumption of Investment Grade Audit Contract and Energy 
Savings Performance Contract (the “Assignment and Assumption”) was made and entered into 
as of November 04, 2024, by and between Texarkana Regional Airport Authority, the City of 
Texarkana Arkansas, Entegrity Energy Partners, LLC (“ESCO”), who are collectively referred to as 
the “Parties.”  

This First Amendment to the Energy Savings Performance Contract (“Amendment”) is entered 
into as of the date of signing, defined as the Amendment Effective Date, on the signature page 
of this Amendment.  

WHEREAS, the Assignment and Assumption is expressly contingent upon the City of Texarkana 
Arkansas securing and receiving formal funding approval via the Arkansas Energy Performance 
Contracting Program – Revolving Loan Lease Fund (ARPC-RLLF).  

WHEREAS, in order for the City of Texarkana Arkansas to be eligible for ARPC-RLLF funding 
approval, the Contract must include an initial Measurement and Verification Plan Period of 
thirty-sic (36) months. 

WHEREAS, due to the funding contingency of the Assignment and Assumption, it is necessary for 
all Parties to agree to modifications to the Contract.  

THEREFORE, the Parties agree that all stipulations and details of the existing Contract and the 
Assignment and Assumption will remain in effect except as modified below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



The Contract scope is hereby revised by the following items: 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the total Term of this Contract is as follows: 

Implementation & Commissioning: Three Hundred Five (305) Days 

Initial Performance Measurement & Verification Plan: Thirty-Six (36) Months  

Maximum Performance Guarantee Period: One Hundred Eighty (180) Months 

 

Furthermore, Attachment C: Performance Measurement & Verification Plan, Schedule 2: M&V 
Services Agreement is hereby replaced in its entirety with the revised Attachment C, Schedule 
2 found at Exhibit A. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement to be effective as of the date 
executed herein. 

 

City of Texarkana, Arkansas   Texarkana Regional Airport Authority 

    

Signature   Signature 

    

Printed Name   Printed Name 

    

Title   Title 

    

Date   Date 

 

Entegrity Energy Partners, LLC 

 

Signature 

 

Printed Name 

 

Title 

 

Date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



EXHIBIT A 

  

See “Attachment C: Performance Measurement & Verification Plan,  

Schedule 2: M&V Services Agreement” attached below 



ATTACHMENT C:   Performance Measurement & Verification Plan  
SCHEDULE 2:   M&V Services Agreement 

Measurement and Verification (M&V) Services 

ESCO will perform measurement & verification as outlined in the M&V plan and will update the 
Energy Savings and Performance in conjunction with site visits. This can only be completed if 
utility bills and other necessary information are made available per the Owner’s responsibilities 
outlined in this Agreement.  Services will include: 

1. Delivery of a Post-Installation Report to be reviewed with the project team.  
2. Conduct an M&V Kick-Off meeting. 
3. Provide annual site visits and reports to review current M&V results and energy 

performance as needed (years 1-3 only). 
4. Provide an annual M&V Report within 60 days of the end of the performance period. 
5. Hold an annual M&V site visit and meeting to review current M&V results and project 

energy performance. 

Changes to the project contact list can be made at any time. Owner will need to contact ESCO 
with the new contact list and changes will be made before sending the next email update.  

If utility bills and any other requested information are not provided, per the terms of the 
Agreement, ESCO shall not be responsible for providing the Energy Savings and Performance 
report for that time period.  

 

Minimum Site Visit and Report Frequency: 

Years One-Three 1x 

Future Years   1x 

 

Clarifications:  

ESCO may provide additional data on a monthly basis to the Owner depending on any 
deviations from expected performance.  Owner will be required to make necessary changes 
based on the results of the M&V data. 

After the end of Initial Term and each subsequent term thereafter, Owner may either:  

1. Renew the same level of Service as set forth in the Initial Term or previous term (see 
continuation fee below) or,  

2. Opt out of the measurement & verification process. All pricing for additional services will 
be calculated at the time of renewal, and based upon the Schedule C-4 Fee Schedule 
herein.  

  



ATTACHMENT C:   Performance Measurement & Verification Plan  
SCHEDULE 2:   M&V Services Agreement 

Fee:  

Three years of measurement & verification has been included in the Contract Sum.  After the 
completion of Performance Year 3, the optional fee to continue project M&V for each 
additional year will be $30,000 subject to an annual escalation of 3% from the start of the original 
performance period.  This is a flat fee based on field and office hours.  Services provided for 
continued M&V will remain as stated in this Attachment unless otherwise agreed to by the 
Parties. The Payment for continued M&V services will be made in full at the start of the upcoming 
M&V period. 

 





 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution approving the Texarkana Airport Executive Director 

entering into an agreement with McClelland Engineering for runway 

strengthening. (AIRPORT) Executive Director Paul Mehrlich 

AGENDA DATE: January 6, 2025 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Airport 

PREPARED BY: Paul Mehrlich, Airport Executive Director  

REQUEST: Approving the Texarkana Airport Executive Director entering into an 

agreement with McClelland Engineering for Work Order #1 Runway 4-

22 Strengthening Design for $502,203.20 approved in the Texarkana 

Regional Airport FY24 capital budget. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Airport WO 1 Runway 4-22 Strengthening 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $22,503.73 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: $22,503.73 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$0 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

 

EXHIBITS: Resolution, Work Order 

 



RESOLUTION NO.   _________ 

WHEREAS, the Texarkana Regional Airport is asking for authorization for the 

Texarkana Airport Executive Director to enter into an agreement with McClelland 

Engineering for runway strengthening; and 

WHEREAS, the Texarkana Regional Airport Authority entered into an agreement 

with the State of Arkansas to utilize $16,797,215 for runway overlay, taxiway extension, 

taxiway widening, and constructing a taxi lane; and   

 WHEREAS, McClelland Engineering has provided a work order for runway 4-22 

Strengthening Design in the amount of $502,203,20; and 

 WHEREAS, $451,982,88 will be funded by the State of Arkansas, $27,716.59 will 

be funded by the City of Texarkana, Texas, and the Texarkana, Arkansas, portion will be 

$22,503.73; and 

 WHEREAS, the Texarkana, Arkansas, portion was approved in the FY2024 

Budget;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the Texarkana Regional Airport Executive Director is 

authorized to enter into an agreement with McClelland Engineering for Work Order #1 

Runway 4-22 Strengthening Design for $502,203.20, with the Texarkana, Arkansas, 

portion being $22,503.73.   

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 6th day of January, 2025.   

 

      ____________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

 

APPROVED: 

 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 



 

 Page | 1 Texarkana Regional Airport (TXK) 
 Runway 4 -22 Strengthening – Design Only 

Work Order No. 1 

WORK ORDER NO. 1 
 

ENGINEERING SERVICES 
FOR  

RUNWAY 4-22 STRENGTHENING – DESIGN ONLY 
TEXARKANA REGIONAL AIRPORT (TXK) 

TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

This Work Order amends Articles 1, 2, and 5 of the Basic Agreement executed the 1st day of August, 
2024, between McClelland Consulting Engineers, Inc., hereinafter referred to as the ENGINEER or MCE 
and the Texarkana Regional Airport Authority, hereinafter referred to as the AUTHORITY. 

ARTICLE 1 

The AUTHORITY intends to strengthen Runway 4-22 at the Texarkana Regional Airport by constructing 
an asphalt overlay. McClelland Consulting Engineers, Inc. is pleased to provide this proposal for 
engineering and design services associated with the Runway 4-22 Strengthening project.  The scope of 
this proposal is to create and provide the construction drawings for the civil/site aspects of the project 
including site layouts, pavement design, site grading, lighting, and signage. MCE will provide engineering 
design services with the execution of this contract. 

The ENGINEER will complete the following summary of engineering services under Work Order No. 1. 
Subsequent Work Orders will be developed as other needs arise. Engineering Services During 
Construction for future construction phases will be developed under another work order. 

SECTION 1 – SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Project Development 

• The ENGINEER will meet with the Owner to discuss the project design criteria, budget, and 
schedule. 
 

• The ENGINEER will hold meetings with the Airport staff, Commission members, Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA), and local officials as the need arises. The ENGINEER will also prepare any 
presentational material needed for these types of meetings. 
 

• The ENGINEER will hold meetings with the Airport users, including but not limited to the Airline, 
FBO, and other tenants or users. The ENGINEER will also prepare any presentational material 
needed for these types of meetings. 

 
• The ENGINEER will compile existing data provided by the Airport that was prepared for previous 

projects at the Airport that pertain to the proposed project and are useful to the design. The 
existing data includes airport master plan, airport property map, engineering drawings, 
topographic surveys, and aerial photogrammetry data. 

 
Preliminary Engineering  

• The ENGINEER will prepare a preliminary estimate of probable construction costs and schematic 
design for each element of the project. 

 
• MCE’s key design staff will meet with the AUTHORITY and airport staff to review the preliminary 

plans, specifications, and cost estimate. 

• The ENGINEER will prepare an overall CSPP per AC 150/5370-2G in order to maximize project 
constructability and minimize the impact to airport operations. MCE will coordinate with the 
AUTHORITY, FAA, and selected users of the airport to gain input for this plan. The CSPP will be in 
accordance with FAA AC 150/5370-2G. The CSPP will be submitted to the Obstruction Evaluation 
and Airport Airspace Analysis website. 



 

 Page | 2 Texarkana Regional Airport (TXK) 
 Runway 4 -22 Strengthening – Design Only 

Work Order No. 1 

• The ENGINEER will perform FAARFIELD Pavement Analyses utilizing the existing the pavement 
section depths determined from the geotechnical investigation and anticipated aircraft fleet mix. The 
analyses will be based on multiple strengthening methods, which will be compared to determine the 
most efficient solution to strengthen Runway 4-22. 

• The AUTHORITY shall approve the aircraft fleet mix prior to pavement design options being 
developed. 

• The ENGINEER will make four (4) site visits during the preliminary design phase.  This will be 
done to document existing conditions. 

Topographic Survey 

• MCE will conduct the necessary topographic survey required for the design of the runway 
strengthening project and note the location of any known, local and FAA-owned utilities. The 
survey crew will coordinate the work with the Owner including all safety requirements. 

• The topographic survey will include the entire Runway 4-22, Runway 4-22 Runway Safety Area 
(RSA), intersection with Runway 13-31, intersection with connecting taxiways, and all existing 
above ground features (i.e. runway edge lights & signage). 

Geotechnical Investigation 

• The ENGINEER will provide a geotechnical investigation and report for the runway strengthening 
project. The report will outline detailed information regarding existing pavement conditions and 
subsurface conditions. 

 
• The ENGINEER will perform a laboratory analysis on the recovered samples to determine the 

engineering properties of the project soil strata. Laboratory testing will be conducted in 
accordance with the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) designations. 
 

• Upon completion of the geotechnical exploration and laboratory analysis, the ENGINEER will 
develop a written geotechnical report and distribute to all parties involved. The report will include 
the strength of the existing pavement.  

 
Environmental Coordination 

• Environmental Coordination – MCE will conduct an environmental review and coordinate with the 
OWNER and FAA to assure that all environmental requirements are met for the project. MCE will 
prepare a CATEX Evaluation to support FAA environmental determination for a categorical 
exclusion for the project.  

Engineering Design Documents  

MCE shall prepare and submit construction drawings, specifications, and applications to the AUTHORITY 
and the City of Texarkana as required as part of the In-House Large-Scale Development process required to 
obtain Planning and Engineering Department approvals. City staff review comments will be addressed at 
each interval of the City’s review process.   

• Construction drawing set to include but not limited to: 
• Cover Sheet 
• General Notes 
• Site Plan 
• Construction Safety & Phasing Plan  
• Demolition Plan 
• Grading and Drainage Plan 
• Erosion Control Plan 
• Runway Plan & Profile 



 

 Page | 3 Texarkana Regional Airport (TXK) 
 Runway 4 -22 Strengthening – Design Only 

Work Order No. 1 

• Cross Sections 
• Pavement Marking Plan 
• Lighting and Signage Plan  
• Applicable Detail Sheets 
 

• Pavement Section Alternatives – MCE will develop at least 2 pavement strengthening options 
with opinions of the advantages and disadvantages of both. Using these alternatives MCE will 
look at life cycle cost analysis to determine the safest and economical pavement strengthening 
design. The final pavement strengthening section will be based on review with the AUTHORITY 
of the data presented. 

• Pavement Geometry – Using current industry design criteria and FAA Advisory Circulars, MCE 
will design the pavement geometry (i.e., longitudinal gradient, transverse gradient, etc.). 

• Develop QC Plan – MCE will develop a schedule of milestone activities for this project.  Along 
with these milestones, MCE will develop goals and team member assignments.  At a minimum, 
weekly design team meetings will be held and minutes kept throughout the design of the project. 
Completed tasks will be reviewed and new task assigned.  A complete QC review of the plans will 
be conducted at 3 intervals during the design period. 

• Lighting and Signage – The MCE Design Team will evaluate the existing lights and signs and will 
adjust the necessary structures vertically as per FAA Advisory Circular standards. 

• 90% Plan and Specification Submittal - MCE will prepare and submit to the Owner the design 
drawings and specifications for review and comment. 

• Final Site Visits – MCE design staff will make 2 site visits during the final design phase.  This will 
be done to review the preliminary plans in the field (Plan in Hand).  

• Final Plans and Specifications – Using all data previously mentioned and FAA’s comments 
MCE’s design team will assemble a final design of the project.  This design will be based on FAA 
AC design guidelines along with sound engineering practices for this type of project.  
Specifications will be developed using the current FAA AC as they pertain to construction for 
airports (AC 150/5370-10).  

• Final Construction Quantities and Estimated Costs – MCE will prepare a list of construction work 
items and their associated quantities.  Using these items, a detailed estimate of costs will be 
developed.   

• Final Plans & Specifications – MCE will incorporate comments and revisions received from the 
AUTHORITY into the final design documents.   

 
Bidding & Contract Awarding Services 

• The ENGINEER will prepare the advertisement for bids as well as prepare the bidding documents 
required.  

• The ENGINEER will prepare a list of construction work items and their associated quantities.  
Using these items, a detailed estimate of probable construction costs will be developed.   

• A pre-bid meeting will be conducted on site to review with the potential bidders the bidding 
requirements.  Contractors will have the opportunity to tour the proposed construction site as well. 

• Prepare and issue any /all necessary addendums, RFI’s clarifications as necessary for the 
bidding process. 

• The ENGINEER will conduct /attend the bid opening at TXK. Once bids are received a certified 
bid tab will be supplied of all the responsive bids. 



 

 Page | 4 Texarkana Regional Airport (TXK) 
 Runway 4 -22 Strengthening – Design Only 

Work Order No. 1 

• A review and recommendation of the lowest responsive bidder will be made and a Notice of 
Award will be drafted. Review of the Contractor’s bonds and insurance will be made and the 
contract documents will be prepared. 

• The ENGINEER will conduct a pre-construction meeting. At this meeting contract documents will 
be signed, plans reviewed, schedules established and a Notice to Proceed issued.  This meeting 
will occur at TXK. 

 
Not Included are: 

Off-site drainage improvements 
 Services during construction 
 Construction materials testing 
 Utility relocation (i.e. water, sewer, gas, electric, and etc.) 
 Relocation of NAVAIDs (Other than edge lighting & signage) 
 COE and/or FEMA permitting or studies 
 Environmental Assessments   
 
See Appendix “A” for complete detailed scope of services. 
 
See Appendix “B” for Project Sketch.  
 
 
ARTICLE 2 

The ENGINEER will be compensated as follows for services provided in ARTICLE 1: 

SECTION 2 - PAYMENT 

The ENGINEER will be compensated for service based on a Lump Sum fee payable as the work 
progresses.  The following is a listing of work description and associated fees: 

 

 Project Development ................................................................................................. $28,506.17  

 Preliminary Engineering ............................................................................................ $51,012.98 

Topographic Survey  ................................................................................................. $26,994.82 

Geotechnical Investigation ........................................................................................ $68,883.70 

Environmental Coordination ........................................................................................ $6,590.24  

 Engineering Design Documents  ............................................................................. $298,913.09 

 Bidding & Contract Awarding Services ...................................................................... $21,302.20 

 TOTAL FEE $502,203.20 

Reimbursable Costs 

There will not be a separate charge for reimbursable expense. Those expenses will be included in the 
Lump Sum fee as described above.  

 

Note:  Additional work scopes will be developed under separate work orders as necessary. 



 

 Page | 5 Texarkana Regional Airport (TXK) 
 Runway 4 -22 Strengthening – Design Only 

Work Order No. 1 

ARTICLE 5 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto each herewith subscribe the same in duplicate. 
 
 FOR TEXARKANA REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
 
 
 By: ______________________________________ 
  Ferdinand Paul Mehrlich III, C.M. ACE 
  Executive Director of Aviation 
 
 Dated the _____day of ______________, 2025 
 
 
Attest: __________________________________ 
          
 
 
 FOR McCLELLAND CONSULTING ENGINEERS, INC. 
 
 
 By: ______________________________________ 
 James M. (Mitch) Rose, Exec. Vice Pres./Tres. 
 
 Dated the _____day of ______________, 2025  
 
 
Attest: __________________________________ 
            Matthew Vinyard, P.E., Project Manager



 

 A Texarkana Regional Airport (TXK) 
 Runway 4-22 Strengthening – Design Only 

Work Order No. 1 

Appendix A 



Texarkana Regional Airport

Runway 4 Strengthening (Overlay)

November, 2024

Project Development $28,506.17

Preliminary Engineering $51,012.98

Topographic Survey $26,994.82

Geotechnical Investigation $68,883.70

Environmental Coordination $6,590.24

Engineering Design Documents $298,913.09

Bidding & Contract Awarding Services $21,302.20

Total Professional Fees $502,203.19$502,203.20



Texarkana Regional Airport

Runway 4 Strengthening (Overlay)

Project Development

Principal - III
Project 

Manager -VI

 Project 

Manager - III

Project 

Designer - VI

Project 

Designer - III
Draftsman - III

Specification 

Writer - II

Project 

Accountant - IV

Project 

Accountant - II

$70.77 $52.16 $38.58 $30.28 $28.37 $28.37 $25.88 $25.88 $25.88

hr hr hr hr hr hr hr hr hr

1 1 6 6

9 9 9 9 4 2

Preliminary Design Scope Meetings 9 9 9 9

Preliminary Meetings w/ Airline, FBO, & Users 9 9 9 9

6 6 6 12 20

1 4 4 15 4

Hour Subtotal 34 38 37 54 0 29 6 8 0

Salary Costs $2,406.18 $1,982.08 $1,427.46 $1,635.12 $0.00 $822.73 $155.28 $207.04 $0.00

SUBTOTAL SALARIES $8,635.89

Labor and General Administrative Overhead $15,511.79

Direct Non-Labor Expenses

Document Printing, Reproductions $150.00

Supplies $200.00

Postage, Freight

Travel Costs 2 trips @ 274 miles (rd trip) x $0.705 $386.34

SUBTOTAL - Direct Non-Labor Expenses $736.34 $736.34

Subtotal $24,884.02

Subconsultants

SUBTOTAL $0.00 $0.00

Profit (15%) $3,622.15

TOTAL FEE $28,506.17

Tasks

MCE internal project set-up

Kick-off mtg w/ Owner

Prepare Draft Project Options

Prepare cost estimates of projects



Texarkana Regional Airport

Runway 4 Strengthening (Overlay)

Preliminary Engineering

Principal - III
Project 

Manager -VI

 Project 

Manager - III

Project 

Designer - VI

Project 

Designer - III
Draftsman - III

Specification 

Writer - II

Project 

Accountant - IV

Project 

Accountant - II

$70.77 $52.16 $38.58 $30.28 $28.37 $28.37 $25.88 $25.88 $25.88

hr hr hr hr hr hr hr hr hr

2 6 6 6

12 48 24 24 12

6 6 6 6

Coordination w/Airline, FBO, & Users 9 9 9 9

2 2 12

6 6

2 2 2 6 6

6 6 6

3 3 3

2 2 2 2

6 6

2 2 6 6 2

4 4 4

2 2 2

3 2

2 2

2 6

2

2

2 2 6

6

2 2 6

2 2 2 2

2 2 2

Hour Subtotal 37 96 72 111 50 24 0 0 0

Salary Costs $2,618.49 $5,007.36 $2,777.76 $3,361.08 $1,418.50 $680.88 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

SUBTOTAL SALARIES $15,864.07

Labor and General Administrative Overhead $28,495.04

Direct Non-Labor Expenses

Document Printing, Reproductions

Supplies

Postage, Freight

Travel Costs 2 trips @ 274 miles (rd trip) x $0.575

SUBTOTAL - Direct Non-Labor Expenses $0.00 $0.00

Subtotal $44,359.11

Subconsultants

SUBTOTAL $0.00 $0.00

Profit (15%) $6,653.87

TOTAL FEE $51,012.98

Tasks

Draft SWPPP 

Draft Construction Safety & Phasing Plan

Review of Geotech Report

Preliminary Engineer's Report

Preliminary Construction Quantities 

Preliminary Construction Cost Estimates

Coordination w/Owner & Users

Modeling of Aircraft Turning Radi/Movement

TXK Site Visit (4)

Line of Sight Study

Attend Commission Meeting (0)

Preliminary QC review (Engrs.'s Report and Plans) 

Preliminary Plan Review w/ Owner

Weekly Internal Aviation Dept. Mtg.'s 

Pavement Section Alternatives

Review of Layouts with Owner

Draft Drainage Calculations

Airspace (eFile)

Review Construction Safety & Phasing Plan w/ Owner

Develop QC Plan

Draft Pavement Design

Preliminary Layouts 

DBE Goals

Develop DBE Plan



Texarkana Regional Airport

Runway 4 Strengthening (Overlay)

Topographic Survey

Principal - III
 Project 

Manager - VI

Project Manager - 

III

Project 

Designer - VI
Draftsman - III

Registered Land 

Surveyor - III

Survey Crew 2 

Man

Survey Tech - 

III

$70.77 $52.16 $38.58 $30.28 $28.37 $41.12 $35.65 $28.37

hr hr hr hr hr hr hr hr

15

5 5

75 75

40 15

Hour Subtotal 0 0 0 0 40 30 80 80

Salary Costs $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,134.80 $1,233.60 $2,852.00 $2,269.60

SUBTOTAL SALARIES $7,490.00

Labor and General Administrative Overhead $13,453.54

Direct Non-Labor Expenses

Document Printing, Reproductions

Per Diem (meal allowance ) $896.00

Lodging $1,500.00

Postage, Freight

Mileage  ($0.705/Miles for 728 miles/roundtrip) $513.75

SUBTOTAL - Direct Non-Labor Expenses $2,909.75

Subtotal $23,853.29

Subconsultants

Subtotal $0.00 $0.00

Profit (15%) $3,141.53

TOTAL FEE $26,994.82

Tasks

Project Development

Control Points

Drafting

Topographic Survey



Texarkana Regional Airport

Runway 4 Strengthening (Overlay)

Geotechnical Investigation

Principal - III
Project 

Manager - VI

Project 

Manager - III

Project 

Designer - VI

Geotech 

Engineer - I

Registered Land 

Surveyor - III

Survey Crew 2 

Man
Soils Tech - IV Soils Tech II Soils Tech V

Draftsman 

III

$70.77 $52.16 $38.58 $30.28 $49.85 $41.12 $35.65 $18.65 $16.35 $21.20 $28.38

hr hr hr hr hr hr hr hr hr hr hr

2 2 10 10

4 8 8

1

1 1

1 1

2 2

5

4 2

1 2 1

6

6 2 4 4

2 2 2

6 2 2

6 2 2

2 20 20 20

2 20 12 2 2 2 2

10 10

Hour Subtotal 6 13 0 79 47 0 2 30 32 26 5

Salary Costs $424.62 $678.08 $0.00 $2,392.12 $2,342.95 $0.00 $71.30 $559.50 $523.20 $551.20 $141.90

SUBTOTAL SALARIES $7,684.87

Labor and General Administrative Overhead $13,803.56

Direct Non-Labor Expenses # of Units Price/Unit Unit Total

Document Printing, Reproductions $0.00

Supplies $0.00

Postage, Freight $0.00

Field Layout 1 $185.00 Lump Sum $185.00

Layout Travel Costs 500 $0.63 Per Mile $315.00

5 $900.00 Per Night $4,500.00

1 $2,475.00 Lump Sum $2,475.00

Boring Setup 19 $50.00 Each $950.00

Soil Drilling (Auger) 124 $50.00 Per Foot $6,200.00

Moisture Content 76 $12.00 Per Test $912.00

Liquid & Plastic Limits 19 $65.00 Per Test $1,235.00

Gradation Analysis of Soils 19 $100.00 Per Test $1,900.00

Consumable Itmes for Onsite Investigation 1 $4,500.00 Lump Sum $4,500.00

Light Tower Rental 5 $200.00 Per Week $1,000.00

SUBTOTAL - Direct Non-Labor Expenses $24,172.00 $24,172.00

Subtotal $45,660.43

Subconsultants

TEC Runway Closures $20,000.00

Subtotal $20,000.00 $20,000.00

Profit (15%) $3,223.27

TOTAL FEE $68,883.70

Preliminary Engineering Report 

Drill Rig/Service Truck 

Mobilization/Demobilization

Per Diem (All Crew Members)

Geotech Drilling

Geotech Report Writing

Tasks

Geotech Report Review

Boring Log Review

Boring Staking and Layout

Boring Staking and Layout Data Analysis

Boring Sample Lab Analysis

Boring Sample Testing Assignment

Boring Log Compilation

Review of Survey 

Administration and Coordination

Locate Existing Airport Control

Coordination Mtg. w/ Owner

Survey layout Map

Establish and initiate One-Call locates

efiling (7460) for Drill Rig Height 



Texarkana Regional Airport

Runway 4 Strengthening (Overlay)

Environmental Coordination

Principal - III
 Project 

Manager - VI

Project 

Manager - III

Project 

Designer - VI

Geotech 

Engineer - I

Registered Land 

Surveyor - III

Survey Crew 2 

Man

Survey Tech - 

III

$70.77 $52.16 $38.58 $30.28 $49.85 $41.12 $35.65 $28.37

hr hr hr hr hr hr hr hr

Conduct environmental review of project area 4 4

Prepare CATEX Checklist to submit to FAA 2 4 12

2 10 12 2

Hour Subtotal 4 8 14 24 0 2 0 0

Salary Costs $283.08 $417.28 $540.12 $726.72 $0.00 $82.24 $0.00 $0.00

SUBTOTAL SALARIES $2,049.44

Labor and General Administrative Overhead $3,681.20

Direct Non-Labor Expenses

Document Printing, Reproductions

Supplies

Postage, Freight

SUBTOTAL - Direct Non-Labor Expenses $0.00 $0.00

Subtotal $5,730.64

Subconsultants

Terracon

Subtotal $0.00 $0.00

Profit (15%) $859.60

TOTAL FEE $6,590.24

Coordinate potential environmental impacts with all 

applicable agencies

Tasks



Texarkana Regional Airport

Runway 4 Strengthening (Overlay)

Engineering Design Documents

Principal - III
Project 

Manager -VI

 Project Manager 

- III

Project Designer 

- VI

Project 

Designer - III
Draftsman - III

Specification 

Writer - II

$70.77 $52.16 $38.58 $30.28 $28.37 $28.37 $25.88

hr hr hr hr hr hr hr

20 40 40 40

6 6 6 12

4 4 4

2 2 4

48 48 48 48

22 22 22

36 36 36 36 36 12

1 6 10 12

1 2 2 10

1 2 12 18 22

2 2 10 20

2 2 10

9 9 9 9

2 2 2 20 12

2 2 2 10 5

2 6 6 6

2 2 1

6 4

2 2 4

2 2 6

2 2 6

2 6 10 20 6

2 4 12 12 2

2 4 12 12

10 12 20 20 2

9 9 9 10 2

2 2 22 2 22

1 1 2

1 1 2

2 2 6 20 22

2 2 10 20 20

2 4 8

1 1 2

1 3 6

1 6 6

1 10 10

2 12 18

2 2 10 20 20

2 10 20 50

2 2 2 10 12

10 10 20 40 40

2 6 6 80 30

6 6 12 40 40

2 2 20 30

2 10 12

4 6 10 25 80

1 6 6

6 10 12 20 6

2 10 12

6 10 12 26 80

6 10 12 40 80

Hour Subtotal 203 302 417 836 0 547 195

Salary Costs $14,366.31 $15,752.32 $16,087.86 $25,314.08 $0.00 $15,518.39 $5,046.60

SUBTOTAL SALARIES $92,085.56

Labor and General Adminstrative Overhead $165,404.08

$257,489.64

Direct Non-Labor Expenses

Document Printing, Reproductions $300.00

Supplies

Postage, Freight

Travel Costs 10 trips @ 274 miles (rd trip) $2,500.00

SUBTOTAL - Direct Non-Labor Expenses $2,800.00 $2,800.00

Subtotal $260,289.64

Profit (15%) $38,623.45

TOTAL FEE (MCE) $298,913.09

Tasks

Coordination w/ Owner & Airline

Coordination w/FAA

Review of Layouts with Owner

Review of Existing Site Conditions

Coordination of Environmental CATEX w/ FAA

TXK Site Visit (4)

Coordination with FAA Owned Utility

Weekly Internal Aviation Dept. Mtg.'s 

Pavement Section Alternatives

Final Pavement Design

Finalize Layouts & Alignments 

Finalize Modeling of Aircraft Turning Radi/Movement

Finalize Line of site study

Review of Geotech Report

Airspace (eFile)

Final SWPPP plan

Final Drainage Calculations

Final Construction Safety & Phasing Plan

Review Construction Safety & Phasing Plan w/ Owner

Cover Sheet (1)

Index Sheet (1)

Construction Phasing (1)

Construction Safety (1)

Update DBE Goals based on Final Design

Update DBE Plan based on final design

Finalize Engineer's Report

Finalize Construction Quantities 

Finalize Construction Cost Estimates

Final QC review (Engrs.'s Report and Plans) 

Final Plan Review w/ Owner

Reproduction for Submittal Review

PRELIMINARY PLANS & SPECS.

Pavement Section & Details (1)

Runway Grading (10)

Electrical Duct Bank & Details (2)

General Notes (2)

Survey Control (3)

Topographic Survey (4)

Limits of Construction (2)

ENGINEERING

SUBTOTAL TOTAL SALARIES + OVERHEAD

Review of Electrical Design

Miscellaneous Details (3)

Construction Contract Documents

Technical Specifications

Pavement Markings Layout (3)

Pavement Marking Details (1)

Electrical Layout (12)

Erosion Control Plan & Details (2)

Demolition Plan (2)

Runway Plan & Profile (12)

Runway Cross Sections (24)

Site Layout (2)

Pavement Geomerty (3)



Texarkana Regional Airport (TXK)

Runway 4 Strengthening (Overlay)

Bidding & Contract Awarding Services

Principal - III
Project 

Manager -VI

Project 

Manager - III

Project 

Designer - VI

Project 

Designer - III
Draftsman - III

Spec Writer - 

II

Project 

Accountant - 

IV

Project 

Accountant - II

$70.77 $52.16 $46.63 $39.42 $38.58 $28.38 $25.88 $44.23 $25.84

hr hr hr hr hr hr hr hr hr

1 4

1 2 4

2 3 4

1 1 3 4

1 2

9 12

2 1

9 12 2

1 4 3

2 1 2

1 1

1 1

2 2

1 2

2 6

10 6

9 9 12

Hour Subtotal 10 36 1 0 70 0 41 0 0

Salary Costs $707.70 $1,877.76 $46.63 $0.00 $2,700.60 $0.00 $1,061.08 $0.00 $0.00

SUBTOTAL SALARIES $6,393.77

Labor and General Adminstrative Overhead $11,484.49

Direct Non-Labor Expenses

Document Printing, Reproductions $100.00

Supplies $0.00

Mileage  ($0.705/Miles for 840 miles) $592.20

Postage, Freight $50.00

SUBTOTAL - Direct Non-Labor Expenses $742.20 $742.20

Subtotal $18,620.46

Profit (15%) $2,681.74

TOTAL FEE $21,302.20

Review Insurance

Prepare Agenda for Pre Construction Meeting

Attend Pre Construction Meeting

Evaluate All Bids and Prepare Certified Bid Tab

Verify Bidders Have Meet Bidding Requirements

Make Recommendation of Apparent Low Bidder

Prepare Notice of Award

Prepare Construction Contracts

Review Performance and Payment Bonds

AWARD OF CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT

Tasks

BIDDING SERVICES

Draft Advertisement for Bids

Prepare Bids/contract Documents

Respond to Questions/Issue RFI's

Prepare and Issue Addendums

Prepare Pre Bid Meeting Agenda

Conduct Pre Bid Mtg

Issue Pre Bid Meeting Minutes

Conduct Bid Opening



 

 B Texarkana Regional Airport (TXK) 
 Runway 4-22 Strengthening – Design Only 

Work Order No. 1 

Appendix B 
 



EXISTING TERMINAL BUILDING

EXISTING ARFF

0 200 400 800

SCALE: 1" = 400'

TAXIWAY DELTA AND TERMINAL APRON PHASE I CONSTRUCTION
(COMPLETE, NOT SHOWN IN AERIAL)

RUNWAY OVERLAY

TEXARKANA REGIONAL AIRPORT
TEXARKANA, AR   |   RUNWAY 4-22 OVERLAY SKETCH     11.22.2024

PROJECT KEY

EXISTING RUNWAY 4-22 LENGTH = 6,602'

IN
TE

RS
TA

TE
 4

9



TXK Airport Runway 4-22 Strengthening 
Texarkana, Arkansas
MCE26-166 - Proposed Exploration Plan - Sheet 1 

Legend    

Proposed Boring Location (6.5')

N ➤➤N

Image © 2024 Airbus

Image © 2024 Airbus

Image © 2024 Airbus



TXK Airport Runway 4-22 Strengthening 
Texarkana, Arkansas
MCE26-166 - Proposed Exploration Plan - Sheet 2 

Legend    

Proposed Boring Location (6.5')

N ➤➤N

Image © 2024 Airbus

Image © 2024 Airbus

Image © 2024 Airbus





 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution appointing Eric Ethridge, Marian Holder, and Linda 

Matthews to the Personnel Policy Committee for the term of January 6, 

2025---2027. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

AGENDA DATE: January 6, 2025 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Admin 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

REQUEST: Appointments 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Appointments to the Personnel Policy Committee. 

 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

 

EXHIBITS: Resolution, application, and member list 

 



RESOLUTION NO.   _________ 

WHEREAS, vacancies exist on the Personnel Policy Committee; and 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary that appointments be made to fill the vacant positions;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City of 

Texarkana, Arkansas, that the following appointments to the Personnel Policy Committee are 

hereby approved: 

 

 Applicant    Term 

 

  Eric Ethridge    January 6, 2025----2027 

   

  Marian Holder    January 6, 2025----2027 

 

  Linda Matthews   January 6, 2025----2027 

    

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 6th day of January, 2025.   

 

       ____________________________ 

                  Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

 

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 

 



Updated 04022024 
 
 

PERSONNEL POLICY COMMITTEE 

 

2 – YEAR TERMS 
 

 Appointment Term Date Term 

    

Eric Ethridge 

Media Manager 

City Hall 

Resolution No. 2023-7   

Reappointment 

 

01/06/2023----2025 3 

    

Marian Holder 

Fire Administration 

City Hall 

Resolution No. 2023-7   

Reappointment  

 

01/06/2023----2025 5 

    

Linda Matthews 

City Manager’s Secretary 

City Hall 

Resolution No. 2023-7   

Reappointment  

 

01/06/2023----2025 5 

    

Dara Cornett 

Finance Officer 

TAPD 

Resolution No. 2024-28 

Reappointment  

01/06/2024----2026 6 

    

Tracie Lee 

Assistant Public  

Works Director 

City Hall 

Resolution No. 2024-28 

Reappointment 

01/06/2024----2026 6 

    

Jenny Narens 

Deputy City Clerk 

City Hall 

Resolution No. 2024-28 

Reappointment 

01/06/2024----2026 4 

     

 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Depository Board to execute the 

2025 depository agreement with Commercial National Bank (FIN) City 

Manager Tyler Richards 

AGENDA DATE: January 6, 2025 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Finance Department 

PREPARED BY: Laura Cowling, Interim Finance Director  

REQUEST: N/A 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: This agreement involves a house-keeping measure that requires City 

Board approval. The Depository Board of the City of Texarkana, 

Arkansas, will execute the attached 2025 local bank depository 

agreement with Commercial National Bank.  

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $0 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: $0 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$0 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

 

EXHIBITS: Resolution and contract 

 



RESOLUTION NO.   _________ 

WHEREAS, the Depository Agreement between the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, 

and Commercial National Bank expires on an annual basis; and 

 WHEREAS, the Finance Department is requesting Board approval to enter into 

the 2025 depository agreement with Commercial National Bank; 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the Finance Director, City Clerk, and/or the Depository Board, 

as may be appropriate, are hereby authorized and directed to enter into the attached 

Depository Agreement with Commercial National Bank for the reasons set forth above; 

and may deposit the funds of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, pursuant to that agreement 

and A.C.A. 19-8-101, et seq. and 19-8-201, et seq..   

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 6th day of January, 2025.   

 

      

 _________________________________ 

              Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 

 



IN THE MATTER OF 

CITY DEPOSITORIES OF THE 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

 

CONTRACT 

 

THIS CONRACT made and entered into at Texarkana, Arkansas, by and between, ALLEN 

L. BROWN, Mayor, HEATHER SOYARS, City Clerk, and LAURA COWLING, Finance 

Director of the CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS, composing the City Depository 

Board of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, hereinafter referred to as the “CITY” and 

Commercial National Bank, Texarkana, U.S.A., hereinafter referred to as the “BANK”. 

 

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

WHEREAS, the Commercial National Bank, Texarkana, U.S.A., has been designated by 

the Bank Commissioner of Arkansas, eligible to qualify as a City depository of public funds 

of the CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS, and desires to contract as such depository; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the CITY by proper resolution hereto attached has designated the BANK as a 

depository for public funds of the CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANAS,  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed by and be the parties hereto: 

 

Section 1. That the BANK shall duly and properly perform all the duties and 

obligations devolving upon it as a depository of public funds of the CITY OF 

TXARKANA, ARKANSAS, under Act No. 21 of the General Assembly of the State of 

Arkansas in reference to the deposit of public funds, for a period beginning January 15, 

2025 and ending January 15, 2026, said BANK agreeing to pay promptly upon presentation 

all checks lawfully drawn upon said depository by the lawful agents and official of said 

City  authorized and empowered under the laws of the State of Arkansas, to withdraw said 

funds to the amount of said public funds deposited in said depository, and in all things to 

comply with the laws of the State of Arkansas, in reference to the deposit and payment of 

public funds of city depositories; 

 

Section 2. That the BANK shall at all times provide collateral for the CITY’S deposits 

to the extent said deposits exceed F.D.I.C., or other depository insurance.  Such collateral 



shall consist of a pledge of securities allowed by Section 4 of Act 61 of 1933, of the General 

Assembly of the State of Arkansas, as amended.  Securities pledged to CITY deposits under 

this section need not be in the CITY’S name; provided, however, that all pledged securities 

shall be held by the CITY, an agent of the CITY, or the BANK’S trust department. 

 

Section 3. That the BANK shall provide to the CITY the following information 

pertaining to the status of CITY deposits as of the last business day of the months of June 

and December: 

  

A. Total deposits on hand. 

B. Total amount of depository insurance on CITY deposits. 

C. Total pledged securities in CITY’S name. 

D. Total pledged securities not in the CITY’S name. 

E. Holder(s) of pledged securities. 

 

 

THIS CONTRACT made and entered into by and between the parties hereto on the 

__________ day of ______________________, 2024. 

 

 

 

COMMERCIAL NATIONAL BANK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, 

ARKANSAS 

 

 

 
ROBERT SANDERSON, President  ALLEN L. BROWN, Mayor 

   

   

   

   
  HEATHER SOYARS, City Clerk 

   

   

   

   
  LAURA COWLING, Interim Finance 

Director 

   

 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution approving the Rules of Order and Procedure per 

ACA 14-43-501, every first meeting in January. (CCD) City Clerk 

Heather Soyars  

AGENDA DATE: January 6, 2025 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: City Clerk  

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

REQUEST: Adopt the Rules of Order and Procedure. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Per ACA 14-43-501 the Borad of Directors are to adopt the Rules of 

Order and Procedure every 1st meeting in January.  

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

City Manager and staff recommend approval. 

EXHIBITS: Resolution and Rules of Order and Procedure 

 



RESOLUTION NO.   _________ 

WHEREAS, per Arkansas Code Annotated Section 14-43-501, the Board of 

Directors are to adopt the Rules of Order and Procedure every 1st meeting in January;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the attached Rules of Order and Procedure previously updated 

on June 17, 2024, is hereby approved, and adopted. 

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 6th day of January, 2025.   

 

       ______________________________ 

        Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 

 

_________________________________ 
Heather Soyars, City Clerk  
 

 

 

APPROVED: 
 

 

________________________________ 
Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 

 



Updated June 17, 2024 – Resolution No. 2024-48      

 

RULES OF ORDER 

AND 

PROCEDURE MANUAL 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

for the Board of Directors 

of the City of 

Texarkana, Arkansas 

 

  



Updated June 17, 2024 – Resolution No. 2024-48      

RULES OF ORDER AND PROCEDURE 

FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS 

A. Title 
The following rules and procedures shall be known as the "Rules of Order and Procedure 

for the Texarkana, Arkansas Board of Directors" and shall govern the conduct of all 

meetings of said Board unless suspended by proper vote of the members of that Board; 

and it is specifically understood that these rules and procedures shall be subject to and 

subordinate to those procedural requirements as established by the laws and the 

Constitution of the State of Arkansas. 

 

B. Board Meeting 

Public Notification 

The City will, if necessary, go further than legally required in order to inform citizens of 

the items to be considered by the Board. The means used will include advertisements in  

a local newspaper, special notice to citizens who have shown a direct interest in matters 

to be considered and agenda copies available at Board meetings. 
 

Formulation of Agenda 

1) Preparation of the agenda for each Regular or Special Meeting of the Board of 

Directors shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas. 
 

2) Items added to the agenda upon the request of a member of the Board and endorsed 

by one or more members of the Board in accordance with the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, shall be identified on the agenda as so requested or 

endorsed. 
 

3) The agenda shall be completed by the city clerk under the supervision of the city 

manager and distributed to the Board members and news media prior to the close of 

business on Thursday preceding the regular Board meeting. 
 

4) The agenda for special meetings shall be available to the Board of Directors and news 

media as far ahead of the special meeting as practical. 
 

5) Code of Ordinances of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas Sec. 2-17. – Bringing 

business before the board Filing. 



Updated June 17, 2024 – Resolution No. 2024-48      

a) All matters of business coming before any regular meeting of the board of 

directors for action shall be filed with the office of the city manager by 5:00 p.m. 

on the second Wednesday prior to the regular board meeting. Failure to file notice 

of intention to seek action on an item of business at least seven (7) business days 

prior to a regular board meeting shall prevent said business from being included 

as an agenda item at said meeting. 
 

b) Copies of filings made in accordance with this section shall be provided to the 

city manager, city attorney and to each city department head. Department heads 

and/or the city attorney may thereafter provide comments concerning each 

proposed item to the city manager. The city manager, by 5:00 p.m. on the 

Wednesday following the timely filing of an item, and after consideration of any 

comments received in accordance with this provision, shall make a 

recommendation of "staff recommends approval" or "staff does not recommend 

approval" as to each item filed. Unless board consideration is necessitated by 

other applicable law (for example, proper administrative appeal or consideration 

of prior action of the planning commission) items not recommended for approval 

by staff shall not be included on the agenda for the upcoming board meeting and, 

for any such item originally filed by a member of the board of directors, the city 

manager shall promptly (within at least thirty (30) days) schedule a workshop of 

the board of directors for the purpose of discussing the item and, in the event that 

the item thereafter receives the affirmative endorsement of at least two members 

of the board of directors, the same will be added to the agenda for the next 

regularly scheduled meeting occurring no sooner than seven (7) business days 

following the workshop. 
 

c) Matters which have been previously voted on and decided by the board of 

directors at a regular or special meeting of the board cannot be reconsidered at the 

meeting during which the same was voted and decided, nor resubmitted to the 

board of directors until the expiration of one hundred eighty (180) days after such 

vote and decision unless reconsideration is approved by a two-thirds ( 2/3 ) vote 

of the board of directors. 
 

(Ord. No. B-961, § 1, 1-8-57; Ord. No. H-170, § 1, 9-7-71; Ord. No. K-712, 4-5-99; Code 

1961, § 2-2; Ord. No. L-351, § 1, 6-15-09; Ord. No. 21-2017, § 1, 7-17-17) 

 

Quorum 

A majority of the Board shall be necessary to constitute a quorum to do business. The 

concurring vote of a majority of those attending a meeting, provided a quorum is present, 

shall represent the acts of the Board except where otherwise provided by law or by these 

rules. 



Updated June 17, 2024 – Resolution No. 2024-48      

Location 

The location of the Regular Board of Directors’ Meetings shall be the Texarkana, 

Arkansas City Hall Board Room unless another place has been previously set by the 

Directors. 

 

Agenda Procedures 

Sections 2-16 through 2-20 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Texarkana, 

Arkansas, apply to placing an item on a regularly scheduled meeting agenda. However, 

members of the public will be offered an opportunity to speak on all questions presented 

to the Board on that particular meeting's agenda. Any member of the public desiring to 

speak in regard to a particular agenda item will be recognized by the Mayor and given an 

opportunity to speak prior to action by the Board of Directors. Speakers shall be limited 

to five (5) minutes; provided, however, a speaker’s time may be extended upon proper 

motion (followed by second and affirmative vote of two-thirds of the entire elected 

Board) to suspend the rules and extend the speaker’s time for a specified period of time. 

Speakers may not yield time to one another. 

 

Regular Meetings 

The Board shall meet in regular session on the first and third Monday of each month at 

6:00 p.m. When a holiday occurs on any such Monday the regular meeting shall be held 

on the following Tuesday at the same hour unless otherwise provided for by motion. The 

regular meeting time may be rescheduled by the Board in special circumstances. Any 

change must be made far enough in advance to allow normal public notification. 

 

Special Meetings 

Special meetings may be called at any time by the Mayor or by Directors representing a 

majority of the elected membership of the Board, which is four (4) Directors.  

Notification of a special meeting, including specific items to be considered, shall be at 

least two hours prior to the meeting. Such notification shall be by personal service to each 

member or by telephone, specifying time and place of meeting. 

 

No business shall be transacted at any special meeting of the Board unless the same has 

been stated in the notice of such meeting. However, any additional business, which may 

lawfully come before a regular meeting, may be transacted at a special meeting if all the 

members of the Board present consent thereto and all the absent members file their 

written consent. 

 

Executive Session 

An executive session may be convened at the request of any member of the Board of 

Directors. 



Updated June 17, 2024 – Resolution No. 2024-48      

Executive sessions will be permitted only for the purpose of considering the employment, 

appointment, promotion, demotion, disciplining, or resignation of any public officer or 

employee. 

 

All executive sessions shall be conducted strictly within the letter and the spirit of the 

Arkansas Freedom of Information Act. 

 

Consent Agenda 

Items placed in this section are matter of routine business, which are expected to involve 

little or no discussion by the Board or the public. The Consent Agenda is usually voted 

on in mass. However, if any Director so desires, individual items may be discussed 

and/or voted on as a separate matter of business. 

 

General Rules of Discussion 

All debate and comment on a specific agenda item should be limited to that item. Any 

speaker shall withhold comment until being recognized by the presiding officer. Any 

person addressing the Board in accordance with these rules shall make such comments 

from the lectern or such other place as is designated by the presiding officer. Comments 

should be addressed to the presiding officer or to the Board as a whole. All persons 

speaking at a meeting, including Directors, shall refrain at all times from rude or 

derogatory remarks, reflections as to integrity, abusive comments, statements as to 

motives and personalities. Consent of the presiding officer is required before any person 

may approach the Board dais beyond the lectern. Should a Director wish that the 

presiding officer recognize a member of the public or staff to be heard or respond to 

inquiry, the Director shall address such request to the presiding officer and not directly to 

the desired speaker. 

 

Citizen Participation / Citizen Communication Time 

The Board of Directors allows a time on the agenda for citizens, organizations or 

community groups to address or make presentations to the Board. Except for 

presentations by a member of the Board of Directors, City staff or City-appointed boards 

or commissions that may be placed elsewhere on the agenda, all comments by citizens or 

presentations by organizations or community groups concerning matters that are not 

otherwise being considered by the Board of Directors as an action item (i.e., for a vote) 

should be made during this period of the agenda. The Mayor chairs the meeting and will 

recognize members of the audience who wish to be heard. Citizens, organizations or 

community groups recognized by the Mayor are requested to approach the lectern, 

provide their name and address for the record and make their comment or presentation. 

Each citizen comment or, in the case of  a presentation by an organization or community 

group, each presentation, shall be limited to five (5) minutes; provided, however, a 

speaker’s (or, as applicable, organization’s or group’s) time may be extended upon proper 

motion (followed by a second and affirmative vote of two-thirds of the entire elected 

Board) to suspend the rules and extend the 



Updated June 17, 2024 – Resolution No. 2024-48      

speaker’s time for specified period of time. Speakers or presentations may not yield time 

to one another. 

 

Action by the Board is limited to those matters properly placed on the agenda or 

otherwise approved by the Board for consideration at a meeting in accordance with these 

rules, the Code of Ordinances of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, and applicable law. 

 

Policy Statement 

Items not on the regularly scheduled agenda are usually scheduled for a future agenda to 

give the Board of Directors an opportunity to review the matter. 

 

Smoking Prohibited 

There will be no smoking allowed in the Board Room during Board meetings. 

 

C. Duties And Privileges Of Board Members At Board Meetings 

 
Conduct 

During Board meetings Board members shall preserve order and decorum and shall 

neither by conversation or otherwise delay or interrupt the proceedings. Neither shall  

they refuse to obey the orders of the Presiding Officer or the rules of the Board. 

 

Every member of the Board desiring to speak shall address the chair and, upon 

recognition by the Presiding Officer, shall confine herself or himself to the question 

under debate and shall avoid all personalities and indecorous language. A Board member 

once recognized shall not be interrupted while speaking unless called to order by the 

Presiding Officer, unless a point of order is raised by another member or unless the 

member chooses to yield to questions from another member. 

 

***BOARD OF DIRECTORS CODE OF CONDUCT*** – Resolution No. 2018-9 – 

Adopted March 5, 2018, separate document. 



Updated June 17, 2024 – Resolution No. 2024-48      

Personal Interest 

No member of the Board with a direct or indirect financial interest in any item before the 

Board shall participate in the voting on such matter. 

 

Voting 

Every member present when a question is put to a vote shall vote either "yes or no", 

except that a member may abstain from voting if he or she has not participated in the 

preceding discussion of the question and if that member briefly states the reason for the 

abstention. The Directors will vote at Board meetings in the order of their position 

number, but with a progressively different position voting first at each month. 

 

Roll Call 

Upon every vote the affirmative and negative votes shall be called and shall be recorded 

on every motion, resolution, and ordinance. 

 

D. The Presiding Officer 

Mayor and Assistant Mayor 

The Mayor shall preside at all meetings of the Board; in the absence of the Mayor, the 

duties shall be performed by the Assistant Mayor. 

 

Privileges of the Presiding Officer 

The Presiding Officer may move, second, and debate from the chair and shall not be 

deprived of the rights and privileges of a member of the Board of Directors by reason of 

her or his acting as the Presiding Officer. 

 

E. Procedures and Parliamentary Rules 

Order of Business 

The order of the Board’s agenda shall be set by the City Manager. The Mayor, with the 

consent of the Board, may rearrange the order of the agenda. In addition, at the Presiding 

officer’s discretion or by a majority vote of the Board, certain agenda items may be 

classified as a part of a “Consent Agenda” and may be approved and adopted as a whole 

by a single voting action of the Board of Directors. 



Updated June 17, 2024 – Resolution No. 2024-48      

Motion to be stated by the Chair/Withdrawal 

When a motion is made and seconded, it shall be stated by the Presiding Officer before 

debate. After being stated by the Mayor, a motion may not be withdrawn by the mover 

without the consent of the member seconding it and approval of the Board. 

 

Readings 

All ordinances shall be read aloud at three different meetings unless the Board of 

Directors votes to suspend this rule in accordance with A.C.A. § 14-55-202. The reading 

of an ordinance's title shall constitute a complete reading of the ordinance unless objected 

to by any member of the Board of Directors in which case the ordinance shall be read in 

its entirety. 

 

Addendum to Agenda 

Any item to be added to the agenda its submission to the Board of Directors shall require 

a waiver executed by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors before it may 

be considered as a part of the agenda. 



Updated July 3, 2023 – Resolution No. 2023-59  

 

 

 

 
Principle Rules Governing Motions (Chart) 

 

Order of Precedence 

 

Can interrupt speaker? 

 

Requires a second? 

 

Debatable? 

 

Amendable? 

 

Vote required? 

I. Privileged Motions 
     

1. Adjourn No Yes No No Majority 

2. Recess No Yes No Yes Majority 

3. Question of Privilege Yes No No No No vote 

II. Subsidiary Motions 
     

4. Postpone Temporarily No Yes No No Majority 

5. Vote Immediately No Yes No No Majority 

6. Limit Debate No Yes No Yes Majority 

7. Postpone Definitely No Yes Yes Yes Majority 

8. Refer to Committee No Yes Yes Yes Majority 

9. Amend No Yes Yes Yes Majority 

10. Postpone indefinitely No Yes Yes No Majority 

Main Motions 
     

11. General Main Motion No Yes Yes No Majority 

Incidental Motion 
     

12. Appeal Yes Yes Yes No Tie or Majority 

13. Point of Order Yes No No No No vote 

14. Withdraw a Motion No No No No No vote 

15. Suspend Rules No Yes No No Two-thirds 

16. Division of a Question No No No No No vote 
17. Division of Assembly Yes No No No No vote 



Updated 03052018 
 

 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt an Ordinance to rezone parcels 00193600 and 00193601, 

Texarkana, Arkansas, from C-4 Crossroads Business Park to a Planned 

Unit Development (PUD) for the purpose of constructing seven (7) 

single family homes. (Ward 6) *Item was tabled November 4, 2024. * 

(PWD-Planning) City Planner Jamie Finley  

The applicant requests an emergency clause. An emergency clause 

requires a separate and distinct vote of the board and is valid only if 

there is a two-thirds vote of approval by the board. (Hdbk. Const. 

Amend 7) 

AGENDA DATE: January 6, 2025 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☒  Resolution☐  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Public Works/Planning 

PREPARED BY: Jamie Finley 

REQUEST: Rezone parcels 00193600 and 00193601 from C-4 Crossroads Business 

Park to a PUD for the purpose of constructing 7 single family homes.  

Property is located 121’ N at the intersection of Oak Hollow Lane and 

Mount Olive Drive and is legally described at PT NE NW SW contig 

w/#00193600 and PT NE NW SW contig w/#00193601, Texarkana, 

Arkansas, Miller County, containing 2 acres more or less.   *Item was 

tabled November 4, 2024, in order to revise the site plan to convert the 

private road to a public road.  (Ward 6) 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: YES 

SUMMARY: The Planning Commission recommendation is approval of this rezoning.   

EXPENSE REQUIRED: 0 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: 0 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

0 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

 

EXHIBITS: Ordinance, Memo to City Manager, location map, zoning map, and site 

plan 

 



ORDINANCE NO.   _________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 

K-286, AS AMENDED; FOR DECLARING AN 

EMERGENCY; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 
WHEREAS, an application to amend the Land Use Plan was filed with the 

Planning Commission of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, requesting the following 

described lands be rezoned, as applicable, from C-4 Crossroads Business Park to a Planned 

Unit Development for the purpose of building seven (7) single family homes:  

 

PT NE NW SW contig w/#00193600 & PT NE NW SW contig 

w/#00193601 all located in Section 5, T. 15 S., R. 28 W. and located 121’ 

north of the intersection of Oak Hollow Lane and Mount Olive Drive. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission, after a public hearing, has approved said 

application and recommended that the Board of Directors of the City of Texarkana, 

Arkansas, adopt the ordinance affecting said rezoning request;  

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that: 

 

Section 1: Ordinance No. K-286, as amended, should be amended to rezone the 

above-described property in the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, from C-4 Crossroads 

Business Park to a Planned Unit Development for the purpose of building seven (7) single 

family homes.   

Section 2: This is solely a rezoning and no other action, conveyance, or release 

of interest.   

Section 3: This action being necessary for the preservation of the public peace, 

health and safety, and a separate and distinct vote has been taken on this emergency clause, 

an emergency is therefore declared to exist, and this ordinance shall be in full force and 

effect from and after its passage and approval.   
  

PASSED AND APPROVED this 6th day of January, 2025.   

 

       ______________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 



 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 

 



 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF TEXARKANA ARKANSAS 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
216 WALNUT ST 71854-6024 
P O BOX 2711 TEXARKANA ARKANSAS 75504-2711 
PHONE (870) 779-4971 – FAX (870) 773-2395 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Tyler Richards, City Manager 
  
FROM: Jamie Finley, City Planner 
  
DATE:  December 26, 2024  

 
SUBJECT:  Board of Directors Agenda item for 1-6-25, request approval to 

rezone parcels 00193600 and 00193601 from C-4 Crossroads 
Business Park to a Planned Unit Development.  This item was 
tabled at the 11-4-24 Board of Directors meeting. 
 

LEGAL 
DESCRIPTION: 
 

The property is legally described as PT NE NW SW contig 
w/#00193600 & PT NE NW SW contig w/#00193601 and is located 
121’ north of the intersection of Oak Hollow Lande and Mount Olive 
Drive. 

 
REASON FOR 
REQUEST: 

The applicant request rezoning for the purpose of constructing 
seven (7) single family homes.  This item was tabled at the 11-4-
24 Board of Directors meeting in order to revise the site plan to 
covert the private road to a city road. 
 

 
EXISTING LAND 
USES: 
 

Site: Vacant 
North: Vacant 
East: Residential 
South: Vacant 
West: Vacant 

  
EXISTING ZONING: Site: C-4 Crossroads Business Park    

North: C-4 Crossroads Business Park   
East: R-2 Single Family Residential    
South: C-4 Crossroads Business Park     
West:  C-4 Crossroads Business Park  

 



 
 
 

 

COMPATIBILITY 
WITH EXISTING 
ZONING: 
 

Parcels 00193600 and 00193601 are designated at Business Park 
in the 2024 Comprehensive Plan.  Business Park is described as 
primarily commercial and office uses with the potential for some 
multifamily uses. While this property does not fit this designation, it 
has remained undeveloped since approximately 1995.  Also, the 
desired plan for the Crossroad Business Park area has not 
materialized as anticipated and much of the property in this area is 
now being developed as residential.   

UTILITIES & TRANSPORTATION NETWORK: 

 UTILITIES: Water:  8” on east side of Mt. Olive  
  Sewer: 8” on the west side of Mt. Olive 
  Fire Hydrant: 194’ east of the property 
 
TRANSPORTATION: Local:  Mount Olive Drive   
 

   
CONFORMANCE WITH APPLICABLE ORDINANCES AND/OR STATE STATUTES: 
 
 The Arkansas Code of 1987 Annotated (14-56-422B) requires the 

following – “All plans, recommended ordinances, and regulations 
shall be adopted through the following procedure for adoption of 
plans and regulations: 
 

(1)  (A) The Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing on  
       the plans, ordinances, and regulations proposed under this  
       subchapter. 
 

 (B)  Notice of public hearing shall be published in a  
 newspaper of general circulation in the city, at least (1) time  
 fifteen days prior to the hearing. 

 
(2)  Following the public hearing, proposed plans may be 

 adopted, and proposed ordinance and regulations may be 
 recommended as presented, or in modified form, by a  
 majority vote of the entire commission.   

 
(3)  Following it adoption of plans and recommendation of 

 ordinances and regulations, the commission shall certify 
 adopted plans of recommended ordinances of and 
 regulations to the legislative body of the city for its adoption. 

 
 
 



 
 
 

 

 

(4) The legislative body of the city may return the plans and 
recommended ordinances and regulations to the 
commission for further study or rectification, or, by a majority 
vote of the entire membership, may, by ordinance or 
resolution, adopt the plans and recommended ordinances or 
regulations submitted by the commission.  However, nothing 
in this subchapter shall be construed to limit the city board’s 
authority to recall the ordinances and resolutions by a vote 
of a majority of the council. 

  
(5)  Following adoption by the legislative body, the adopted    

            plans, ordinances, and regulations shall be filed in the  
            office of the City Clerk.  The City Clerk shall file, with the 
            county recorder of the counties in which territorial 
            jurisdiction is being exercised such plans, ordinances, and 
            regulations as pertain to the territory beyond the corporate  
            limits.  
 

   
OPPOSITION: None  

 
PLANNING COMMISSION CERTIFICATION: 
 
The Planning Commission met on October 8, 2024 and certified recommendation to rezone 
the property described previously in this document under “Legal Description”.  A motion 
was made by Commissioner Cori Mobbs seconded by Commissioner Anita Pickett.  Motion 
passed with a roll call vote of 6-0, with one absent.   
  

Anderson Neal                                Yes 
Anita Pickett                                    Yes 
Chris Owens                                   Yes 
Jason Dupree                                 Absent   
Randall Hickerson                           Yes 
Boots Thomas, Chairperson           Yes 
Cori Mobbs                                      Yes 
 

BOARD ACTION 
REQUESTED: 

The City Board is requested to approve the rezoning request 
described previously in this document. 
 

 The Arkansas Code of 1987 Annotated requires every ordinance to 
be read three times before adoption.  These three readings may all 
occur at the same meeting or at the second and third subsequent 
meetings after the first reading of the ordinance.   

  
  





00193600 00193601

Esri Community Maps Contributors, City of Texarkana, TWU, Arkansas GIS
Office, Texas Parks & Wildlife, © OpenStreetMap, Microsoft, Esri, TomTom,

City Limits Outline

Texarkana, AR

SiteAddressPoint

9/17/2024, 2:38:45 PM
0 0.05 0.10.03 mi

0 0.07 0.150.04 km

1:3,477



00193600 00193601 Zoning

Esri Community Maps Contributors, City of Texarkana, TWU, Arkansas GIS
Office, Texas Parks & Wildlife, © OpenStreetMap, Microsoft, Esri, TomTom,

City Limits Outline

Texarkana, AR

SiteAddressPoint

Texarkana AR Zoning

C-1

C-4

R-1

R-2

9/17/2024, 2:44:35 PM
0 0.05 0.10.03 mi

0 0.07 0.150.04 km

1:3,477



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution making appointments to the Historic District 

Commission for the term of January 17, 2025----2028. (CCD) City Clerk 

Heather Soyars 

AGENDA DATE: January 6, 2025 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Admin 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

REQUEST: Appointment 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Appointments to the Historic District Commission. 

David Jones and Natasha Crabbe terms expires January 16, 2025 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

 

EXHIBITS: Resolution, application, and member list 

 



RESOLUTION NO.   __________ 

WHEREAS, two positions on the Historic District Commission will become 

vacant on January 16, 2025; and 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary that appointments be made to fill the vacant positions 

for the term of January 17, 2025----2028;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the following appointments to the Historic District 

Commission are hereby approved: 

 

  

Applicant 

 

Term Date 

 01/17/2025----2028 

 

 01/17/2025----2028 

 

   

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 6th day of January 2025.   

 

      

 _________________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

 

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 



Updated 12052024   
 
 

HISTORIC DISTRICT COMMISSION 

Authorized by A.C.A. 14-172-201----212, and Texarkana Code 19-31----65 

3 – YEAR TERMS 
 

 Appointment Term Date Term Ward 

     

David Jones 

39 Brookside Drive 

903-277-5550 (home) 

870-774-3333 (work) 

Resolution No. 2022-32 

Reappointment 

01/17/2022----2025 4 1 

     

Natasha Crabbe 

4131 Union Road 

903-824-2970 

Resolution No. 2022-32 

Reappointment 

01/17/2022----2025 2 1 

     

Randy Henry 

803 Miller Street 

903-490-7772 

Resolution No. 2023-76 

Appointment  

01/17/2023----2026 1 1 

     

Jeff Brown 

2217 Laurel Street 
903-277-0457 

Resolution No. 2024-

102 Appointment 

01/17/2023----2026 1 4 

     

Greg Gallagher 

1919 Beech Street 

903-905-5350 

Resolution No. 2024-27 

Reappointment  

01/17/2024----2027 2 4 

     

Jamie Simmons 

600 Pecan Street 

870-330-1521 

Resolution No. 2024-27 

Reappointment 

01/17/2024----2027 6 2 

     

Christen Durham 

1215 Locust Street 

903-276-6361 

Resolution No. 2024-49 

Appointment 

01/17/2024----2027 

 

1 3 

     

Jamie Finley 

City Planner 

HDC Ex – Officio 

870-779-4944(work) 

N/A Term of 

Employment 

N/A N/A 

     

 

7 - Members  

  









 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution appointing Linda Register to the Library Board for 

the term of January 15, 2025----2031. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

AGENDA DATE: January 6, 2025 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Admin 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

REQUEST: Appointment 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Appointment to the Library Board. 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

 

EXHIBITS: Resolution, application, and member list 

 



RESOLUTION NO.   __________ 

WHEREAS, a vacancy will exist on the Library Board at the expiration of Linda 

Register’s term on January 14, 2025; and 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary that a reappointment be made to fill the vacant 

position;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the following reappointment to the Library Board is hereby 

approved: 

  

Applicant Term Date 

 

Linda Register 01/15/2025 ----2031 

    

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 6th day of January, 2025.   

 

      

 _________________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

 

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 

 



Updated 02132024 
 
 

LIBRARY BOARD 

Authorized by A.C.A. 13-2-501---510 and Texarkana, Arkansas Code 12-16---19 

6 – YEAR TERMS 
 

 Appointment Term Date Term Ward 

     

Linda Register 

3406 Water Oak Drive 

903-276-4838 

Resolution No. 2019-7 

Appointment  

 

01/15/2019----2025 1 6 

     

Junie Young 

3503 Tiffany Lane 

870-773-4139 

Resolution No. 2021-38 

Reappointment 

 

01/15/2020----2026 2 5 

     

Gary Nutter 

1203 Forest Acres Circle 

870-772-8091 

Resolution No. 2021-38  

Reappointment 

 

01/15/2020----2026 2 1 

     

Pamela Johnson 

10 Pine Trail 

903-293-8188 

Resolution No. 2023-11 

Appointment 

01/15/2023----2029 1 5 

     

Connie Brian 

1109 East Short 21st Street 

903-276-1133 

Resolution No. 2023-52 

Appointment  

 

01/15/2023----2029 1 4 

     

 

5 - Members 




	Top
	1.	Assistant Mayor
	item_1_01062025_bod_asst mayor_harris
	item_1_01062025_bod_res Asst Mayor
	item_1_01062025_bod_asst mayor_ord 2-2023

	2.	BOD committees
	item_2_01062025_ccd_bod committees
	item_2_01062025_ccd_bod committees_res
	item_2_01062025_ccd_current_BOD Committees
	item_2_01062025_ccd_bod committees_blank form

	3.	Employee awards
	item_3_01062025_ccd_employee service awards

	4.	minutes
	item_4_01062025_ccd_minutes
	item_4_12162024_minutes
	item_4_12162024_minutes_TAFD Present and Future Exhibits
	12232024_minutes_called

	5.	ESPC Airport
	item_5_01062025_air_ESPC First Amendment Agenda Form
	item_5_Airport Contract Extension Amendment
	item_5_01062025_air_ESPC First Amendment - Texarkana Airport
	item_5_01062025_air_ESPC_AA_Resolution

	6.	Runway Strengthening Aiport
	item_6_01062025_air_WO 1 Runway 4-22 Strengthening Agenda Form
	item_6_res_Airport Runway Strengthening
	item_6_01062025_air_WO 1 Runway 4-22 Strengthening
	item_6_01062025_air_WO 1 Runway Strengthening_AA_ Resolution

	7.	Personnel Committee
	item_7_01062025_ccd_personnel committee
	item_7_Personnel Policy Committe Appts
	item_7_01062025_ccd_personnel Policy Committee

	8.	depository agreement
	item_8_01062024_fin_Depository Agreement
	item_8_Depository Agreement
	item_8_01062025_fin_CNB_Depository Agreements

	9.	Rules of Order
	item_9_01062025_ccd_Rules of order
	item_9_01062025_ccd_res Rules of Order and Procedure
	item_9_01062025_ccd_Rules of Order and Procedure

	10.	rezone parcels - 00193600 & 00193601
	item_11_01062025_pwd-planning_Wurtele Rezone City Street Revision
	item_11_rezoning
	item_11_01062025_pwd-planning_Memo to the CM Wurtele Rezone City Street Revision
	item_11_01062025_pwd-planning_Ed Clark Hightower Crossing Site Plan (2)
	item_11_01062025_pwd-planning_Wurtle Rezone Map
	item_11_01062025_pwd-planning_Wurtle Rezone Zoning

	11.	HDC appointments
	item_12_01062025_ccd_HDC
	item_12_Historic District Comm Appts
	item_12_01062025_ccd_hdc list
	item_12_01062025_ccd_hdc_David Jones
	item_12_01062025_ccd_hdc_Natasha Crabtree
	item_12_01062025_ccd_hdc_Michael Hendrix_HDC_11202024

	12.	library board
	item_13_01062025_ccd_Library board
	item_13_Library Board Reappointment
	item_13_01062025_ccd_library Board
	item_13_01062025_ccd_library_Linda Register

	Bottom

